FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 10/24/2018 4:45 PM

Supreme Court No. 96457-2

No. 76424-1-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CLEVE GOHEEN-RENGO,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

JAN TRASEN Attorney for Petitioner WSBA # 41177

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
C.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
B.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION
A.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Supreme Court

<u>Adkins v. Aluminum Co. of Am.</u> , 110 Wn. 2d 128, 750 P.2d 1257, 1264, clarified on denial of reconsideration, 756 P.2d 142 (1988)				
<u>State v. Borboa</u> , 157 Wn.2d 108, 135 P.3d P.3d 469 (2006)				
State v. Crediford, 130 Wn.2d 747, 927 P.2d P.2d 1129 (1996)				
<u>State v. Green</u> , 94 Wn.2d 216, 616 P.2d 628 (1980)				
<u>State v. Harrington</u> , 167 Wn.2d 656, 222 P.3d 92 (2009)				
<u>State v. Huson</u> , 73 Wn.2d 660, 440 P.2d 192 (1968), <u>cert. denied</u> , 393 U.S. 1096 (1969)				
<u>State v. Kroll</u> , 87 Wn.2d 829, 558 P.2d 173 (1976)				
<u>State v. Monday</u> , 171 Wn.2d 667, 297 P.3d 551 (2011)				
<u>State v. Reed</u> , 102 Wn.2d 140, 684 P.2d 699 (1984)				
Washington Court of Appeals				
State v. Echevarria, 71 Wn. App. 595, 860 P.2d 420 (1993)				
State v. Kinchen, 92 Wn. App. 442, 963 P.2d 928 (1998)				
State v. Pierce, 169 Wn. App. 533, 280 P.3d 1158 (2012) 11, 12				
<u>State v. Robinson</u> , 20 Wn. App. 882, 582 P.2d 580 (1978), <u>aff'd</u> , 92 Wn.2d 357, 597 P.2d 857 (1979)				
<u>State v. Warfield</u> , 103 Wn. App. 152, 5 P.3d 1280 (2000)				
State v. Washington, 135 Wn. App. 42, 143 P.3d 606 (2006)				

United States Supreme Court

Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2004)	•			
Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501, 96 S.Ct. 1691, 48 L.Ed.2d 126 (1976) 9)			
<u>In re Winship</u> , 397 U.S. 358, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970)				
Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979) 5	5			
Washington Constitution				
Article I, section 3)			
Article I, section 21)			
Article I, section 22)			
United States Constitution Fifth Amendment 9				
Sixth Amendment				
Fourteenth Amendment				
Statutes				
RCW 9A.40.010(1)	5			
RCW 9A.40.040	5			
Rules				
RAP 13.4(b)(1)	5			

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Cleve Goheen-Rengo, appellant below, seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Goheen-Rengo appealed his Whatcom County convictions for unlawful imprisonment, in connection with an altercation with two social workers in the courthouse during a child vistitation. The Court of Appeals affirmed in an unpublished decision on September 24, 2018.

Appendix. This motion is based upon RAP 13.3(e) and 13.5A.

C. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

- 1. The State must prove all elements of a charged offense to satisfy due process. To prove unlawful imprisonment, the State must prove the accused person knowingly restrained and substantially interfered with a person's liberty. Where the State failed to prove Mr. Rengo restrained the movement of the complainants, did the State prove all essential elements beyond a reasonable doubt, and was the Court of Appeals decision in conflict with decisions of this Court, requiring review? RAP 13.4(b)(1).
- 2. The State's duty to ensure a fair trial precludes a prosecutor from employing improper argument and tactics during trial. Where the deputy prosecutor engaged in repeated misconduct, and where such

conduct was prohibited by the court's pre-trial ruling, was there a substantial likelihood that the comments affected the jury verdicts, requiring reversal, and was the Court of Appeals decision in conflict with decisions of this Court, requiring review? RAP 13.4(b)(1).

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Rengo incorporates by reference the statement of facts in his Opening Brief; an abbreviated statement follows.

Until 2014, Cleve Rengo lived in Whatcom County with his family, including his three young children and his longtime partner, Erica Carey. RP 49-53. The Department removed the infant children, largely due to concerns with the family's ability to provide sufficient nutrition and medical care; the children were still being nursed by Ms. Carey. Id., RP 179 (eight-week twins with one-year old sibling).

Department social worker Angela Paull and social worker Emilie Regan testified that early in the dependency, a "professional relationship" was established. RP 58, 101. As time went on, however, the Department limited Mr. Rengo's time with his children and increasingly restricted his visitation rights, confining his visitation to the Whatcom County Courthouse. RP 61-62. This caused Mr. Rengo to distrust the Department, and he felt frustration with social workers. RP 179-81. For example, Mr. Rengo did not like the way the social workers spoke to his

children when they supervised his visitation. RP 181 (explaining that even if his daughter needs to sit when she takes a bottle, she should not be ordered "to sit down like she's a dog or something").

On June 10, 2016, Mr. Rengo was having a regularly-scheduled two-hour visit with his three young children on the second floor of the courthouse. RP 73-75, 179. Social workers Paull and Regan abruptly ended Mr. Rengo's visit just 40 minutes into the two-hour session. RP 73-75. Ms. Paull later said Mr. Rengo had broken several rules, including letting his young children play with toys that were too small and were considered a choking hazard. RP 69-70, 111. The social workers also said Mr. Rengo refused to follow guidelines for feeding the children while sitting up straight, and that he responded to his oldest son's statement about his birthday with a reply about celebrating when he returned "home," which was not allowed. RP 70-71, 73.

Mid-visit, Ms. Paull suddenly declared, "It's over," and the social workers quickly gathered the three children, along with their shoes and backpacks, and walked toward the courthouse elevator. RP 73-74. Mr. Rengo was surprised and disappointed; he also did not want the children to leave in such a commotion, so he tried to create some quiet time to say goodbye to his children. RP 185, 189.

Mr. Rengo walked the group to the elevator bank and put his foot into the doorway to hold the elevator doors for a just a moment, hoping to get another glimpse of his children as the social workers left the building. RP 78-81, 187-88. Ms. Paull later said that as Mr. Rengo stood with his foot in the elevator door, he said he would leave once he saw that his children were happy and smiling at him; Ms. Paull said that he also made her feel afraid and that he did not let the elevator doors close until she took out her cell phone and threaten to call the courthouse deputy. RP 80-81.

Ms. Paull and Ms. Regan never called the courthouse deputy, nor 911, and neither social worker sought the assistance of the uniformed deputies in the courthouse rotunda once they returned to the ground floor, although they passed their desk immediately afterwards. RP 88-90, 138.

Mr. Rengo did not hear anything about this incident until two months later, when he was charged with two counts of unlawful imprisonment. CP 1-2.

¹ Both social workers estimated the entire incident lasted "a couple minutes." RP 81-82, 139. No witness, including the deputy, had timed how long it takes for the elevator alarm to sound. RP 156. The two other people in the elevator car during this incident did not call 911 or speak with security in the rotunda either; nor did they ask the social workers if they needed help. RP 88-89.

At trial, the prosecutor impermissibly appealed to the jury's emotions during closing argument, in order to secure a conviction. RP 251-52.

Mr. Rengo was convicted of both counts, following a jury trial.

RP 255; CP 46. He appealed, and on September 24, 2018, the Court of Appeals affirmed in an unpublished decision. Appendix.

Mr. Rengo seeks review in this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW, AS THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION IS IN CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

1. The State presented insufficient evidence to convict Mr. Rengo of unlawful imprisonment.

The State has the burden of proving all essential elements of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 300-01, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2004); Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 490, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000). The absence of proof of an element beyond a reasonable doubt requires dismissal of the conviction and charge. E.g., Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979); State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 616 P.2d 628 (1980).

To convict Mr. Rengo of unlawful imprisonment, the prosecution needed to show beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Rengo knowingly restrained Ms. Paull and Ms. Regan by substantially interfering with their liberty. RCW 9A.40.040; CP 37-38. Restraint requires two elements: (1) that the accused "restrict a person's movements without consent and without legal authority," and (2) that he does so "in a manner which interferes substantially with that person's liberty." State v. Warfield, 103 Wn. App. 152, 157, 5 P.3d 1280 (2000); RCW 9A.40.010(1).

To prove "restraint," the substantial interference with a person's liberty must be a "real or material interference," as contrasted with an inconvenience or annoyance. <u>State v. Robinson</u>, 20 Wn. App. 882, 884, 582 P.2d 580 (1978), <u>aff'd</u>, 92 Wn.2d 357, 597 P.2d 857 (1979); <u>compare</u> CP 37 (Jury Instruction 7) <u>with CP 39 (Jury Instruction 9)</u>. The Legislature used the word "substantial" to indicate the serious nature of the act and to show it intended to embrace conduct more significant than temporarily delaying a person's freedom of movement. <u>Id</u>.

Where there is a means of exit, it will defeat a prosecution for unlawful imprisonment if escape is not dangerous and does not require significant effort beyond that which is inconvenient. State v. Kinchen, 92 Wn. App. 442, 452 n.16, 963 P.2d 928 (1998); see also State v. Washington, 135 Wn. App. 42, 50, 143 P.3d 606 (2006) (available avenue

of escape is a defense to a charge of unlawful imprisonment unless "the known means of escape ... present[s] a danger or more than a mere inconvenience").

Our courts require much more to find evidence of unlawful imprisonment sufficient. There is nothing unlawful about momentarily holding open an elevator door as opposed to allowing it to close. In many instances it is common courtesy, if not a mild annoyance for others, to hold an elevator to continue a conversation or to keep the elevator on a floor for another passenger to board. So long as other individuals are free to leave, such conduct is not unlawful. Indeed, that is the very definition employed for restraint in other contexts. See, e.g., State v. Harrington, 167 Wn.2d 656, 665, 222 P.3d 92 (2009) (analyzing restraint in context of search and seizure under Article I, Section 7).

In Mr. Rengo's case, the necessary evidence of restraint required is lacking. Mr. Rengo had no weapons and made no physical threats against either Ms. Paull or Ms. Regan. RP 87, 118-20 (all witnesses testified that Mr. Rengo stated he would release the elevator after he said goodbye to his children and saw them smile again). As in <u>Kinchen</u>, the social workers possessed the keys to their own release; they only needed to walk out of the elevator. 92 Wn. App. at 452 (the means to release were reasonable and accessible).

The prosecutor's office is located on the same floor as the visitation area; had the social workers simply walked back into the second floor of the courthouse, they could have easily ended their "restraint." RP 163. Unlike the victims in <u>Washington</u>, for example, Ms. Paull and Ms. Regan were not physically harmed. These complainants did not ask for assistance – even from the other passengers in the elevator – they did not call 911, or even ask courthouse security to help, although they walked right by their desk. RP 88, 123, 136, 138.

Ms. Paull's and Ms. Regan's behavior contradicts their testimony that they were "terrified" by the incident; in fact, they did not discuss the visit with police until several days later, which implies the event was merely "a petty annoyance" or "a slight inconvenience." Compare

Instruction 7 with Instruction 9. CP 37, 39. Likewise, due to the social workers' history with Mr. Rengo, the implication is one of "imaginary conflict," which is inconsistent with the verdict as well. CP 39

(Instruction 9).

Accordingly, the evidence that Mr. Rengo knowingly restrained Ms. Paull and Ms. Regan was insufficient. Because there was a reasonable means of exit, as in <u>Kinchen</u>, the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with decisions of this Court; this Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

2. The Court of Appeals decision requires this Court's review, because the decision is in conflict with decisions of this Court, due to prosecutorial misconduct.

The Due Process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment protects the right of every criminal defendant to a fair trial. U.S. Const. amends. V, XIV; Const. art. 1 §§ 3, 21, 22. The right to a fair trial includes the presumption of innocence. Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501, 503, 96 S. Ct. 1691, 48 L.Ed.2d 126 (1976); State v. Crediford, 130 Wn.2d 747, 759, 927 P.2d P.2d 1129 (1996); Winship, 397 U.S. at 364.

A prosecutor's improper argument may deny a defendant his right to a fair trial, as guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment and by article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution. State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 676-77, 297 P.3d 551 (2011). A prosecutor, as a quasi-judicial officer, has a duty to act impartially and to seek a verdict free from prejudice and based upon reason. State v. Echevarria, 71 Wn. App. 595, 598, 860 P.2d 420 (1993) (citing State v. Kroll, 87 Wn.2d 829, 835, 558 P.2d 173 (1976)). In State v. Huson, this Supreme Court noted the importance of impartiality on the part of the prosecution:

[The prosecutor] represents the state, and in the interest of justice must act impartially. His trial behavior must be worthy of the office, for his misconduct may deprive the defendant of a fair trial. Only a fair trial is a constitutional trial ... We do not condemn vigor, only its misuse ...

73 Wn.2d 660, 663, 440 P.2d 192 (1968), cert. denied, 393 U.S. 1096 (1969) (citation omitted); see also State v. Reed, 102 Wn.2d 140, 147, 684 P.2d 699 (1984).

In closing argument, the deputy prosecutor stated precisely the conclusion that the trial court had forbidden in its pre-trial ruling. The prosecutor argued that the jury had "heard about there being issues surrounding them from the Defendant about how he's acted out in the past, ... you've heard some good reasons why both Angela Paull and Emilie Regan feel fear for this Defendant." RP 240 (emphasis added).

This reference to past acts was excluded by the court's pre-trial ER 404(b) ruling, as well as the court's mid-trial jury instruction. RP 28, 127.

In addition, the prosecutor improperly appealed to the jury's passions and emotions in closing argument by employing a forbidden "golden rule" argument. RP 251-52. When counsel urges jurors "to place themselves in the position of one of the parties to the litigation, or to grant a party the recovery they would wish themselves if they were in the same position," this constitutes an improper "golden rule" argument. Adkins v. Aluminum Co. of Am., 110 Wn. 2d 128, 139, 750 P.2d 1257, clarified on denial of reconsideration, 756 P.2d 142 (1988).

² In <u>State v. Borboa</u>, this Court discussed that in criminal cases, the "golden rule" prohibition in closing argument is most accurately

Here, the prosecutor employed a textbook example of a "golden rule" argument:

You can put yourself in these shoes a little bit. Think about would you feel something like this is a substantial interference in your life, or just a mere inconvenience? How might you feel after this event? Mere inconvenience? Substantial interference? This is your decision.

RP 251-52 (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals opinion in <u>State v. Pierce</u> is instructive. 169 Wn. App. 533, 555-56, 280 P.3d 1158 (2012). In <u>Pierce</u>, the Court of Appeals reversed a double murder/arson conviction due to comments in closing argument, asking jurors to put themselves into the shoes of the victims, the Yarrs. <u>Id</u>. The <u>Pierce</u> Court held:

This argument was an improper appeal to passion and prejudice. It served no purpose but to appeal to the jury's sympathy. That the Yarrs would never have expected the crime to occur was not relevant to Pierce's guilt, nor were the prosecutor's assertions about the Yarrs' future plans. Moreover, the argument invited the jury to imagine themselves in the Yarrs' shoes, increasing the prejudice.

Pierce, 169 Wn. App. at 556.

The Court reversed the convictions, even though Pierce did not object to the improper argument. Id. The Court concluded the

framed as here – as a subset of appeals to the passions and sympathy of the jury. 157 Wn.2d 108, 124 n.5, 135 P.3d P.3d 469 (2006); State v. Pierce, 169 Wn. App. 533, 555 n.9, 280 P.3d 1158 (2012).

prosecutor's repeated improper comments, as well as his invitation to jurors to "imagine the crimes happening to themselves" had a substantial likelihood of affecting the verdict. <u>Id</u>.³

Just as the prosecutor in <u>Pierce</u> invited jurors to imagine themselves in the place of Pierce's victims, the prosecutor in Mr. Rengo's case invited jurors to place themselves in the complainants' shoes, even using those exact words. RP 251 ("You can put yourself in these shoes a little bit"). The prosecutor's appeals to the jury to consider how they would personally "feel after this event" is also an improper request that jurors "imagine the crimes happening to themselves." <u>Pierce</u>, 169 Wn. App. at 556.

Because the cumulative effect of these instances of prosecutorial misconduct violated Mr. Rengo's right to a fair trial where the evidence was not overwhelming, ⁴ this Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

³ "[T]rained and experienced prosecutors presumably do not risk appellate reversal of a hard-fought conviction by engaging in improper trial tactics unless the prosecutor feels that those tactics are necessary to sway the jury in a close case." Fleming, 83 Wn. App. at 215.

⁴ At sentencing, the trial court remarked, after hearing the testimony and speaking to jurors, that "the incident at trial is not a significant or major incident ... it met the standards of the statute ... but was not an egregious incident in any way." RP 283.

F. CONCLUSION

For the above reasons, the Court of Appeals decision should be reviewed, as it is in conflict with decisions of this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1).