FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/16/2018 2:38 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 96457-2

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

CLEVE GOHEEN-RENGO, Appellant.

ANSWER TO MOTION FOR

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

DAVID S. McEACHRAN,
Whatcom County Prosecuting Attorney
By Kimberly A.Thulin
Appellate Deputy Prosecutor
Attorney for Respondent
WSBA #21210 / ADMIN #91075
Whatcom County Prosecutor's Office
311 Grand Avenue, Second Floor
Bellingham, WA 98225
(360) 778-5710

A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

Respondent, State of Washington, by Kimberly Thulin, Appellate Deputy Prosecutor for Whatcom County, responds to Goheen-Rengo's motion for discretionary review.

B. DECISION BELOW

The Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion affirming Goheen-Rengo's convictions for two counts of unlawful imprisonment. See, Slip. Op. 76424, attached to MDR. Thereafter, Goheen-Rengo filed a motion for discretionary review asserting the court of appeals erred and that its decision conflicts with other appellate court decisions. The State in this response, asserts the court of appeals did not err and its decision is in accord with Washington precedent.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether Goheen-Rengo's motion for discretionary review should be denied because the record reflects sufficient evidence supports his convictions for unlawful imprisonment. Goheen Rengo knowingly restrained and substantially interfered with two social workers who were trying to safely leave a supervised visitation between Goheen –Rengo and his three young children by physically trapping them in an elevator and not letting them safely leave.
- 2. Whether discretionary review for alleged prosecutor error is warranted when it is predicated on an isolated statement in closing that Goheen-Rengo failed to object to and failed to request that any curative measures be taken that could have neutralized any of the prejudice he now asserts.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Goheen-Rengo was convicted following a jury trial of two counts of unlawful imprisonment for preventing two child protective services social workers, Angela Paull and Emilie Regan from leaving a supervised visit at a courthouse by stopping and trapping them along with his three young children, then under their protective care, in an elevator thereby preventing them from leaving the supervised visit. CP 49-57. Goheen-Rengo not only physically trapped the two social workers he was also agitated and yelling at them, while simultaneously and alternatively trying to get his three young children to smile at him. Both social workers testified they were terrified druing this encounter and did not feel they had any reasonably safe means of escaping. Goheen-Rengo appealed, asserting the evidence presented below was insufficient to support the jury's determination that his actions and behavior substantially interfered with either Angela and Emilie's liberty as to constitute unlawful restraint, as required to support his convictions. Br. of App. at 2. Goheen-Rengo also alleged for the first time on appeal the prosecutor argued improperly during closing argument. Id.

In an unpublished opinion, the court of appeals affirmed Goheen-Rengo's convictions finding in part, that the evidence sufficient to support his unlawful imprisonment convictions and that alleged prosecutor err did not warrant a new trial. Goheen-Rengo now petitions this Court for further review of these two issues. The State respectfully responds further review of either the sufficiency of the evidence claim or prosecutorial error in closing is not warranted.

E. ARGUMENT

Goheen Rengo argues the court of appeals erred concluding there was sufficient evidence of restraint in the record to support his conviction for two counts of unlawful imprisonment and second asserts the court erred concluding an isolated statement made in closing did not warrant a new trial. Neither issue warrants further review by this Court.

When the facts are viewed in the light most favorable to the State, the record reflects both social workers were terrified, reasonably felt trapped and unable to safely leave with Goheen-Rengo's three young children when Goheen-Rengo followed them after his supervised visitation had ended, stopped the elevator doors from closing and then stood in the elevator door jam yelling, calling one of the social workers a bitch, while alternatively stating he would not leave until he could get his three small children to smile at him. These facts sufficiently reflect the

jury could conclude the social workers were unlawfully restrained and had no reasonable available means of safely escaping the elevator with three small children in tow. The evidence therefore sufficiently supports the jury's determination Goheen-Rengo unlawfully restrained and imprisoned both social workers in the elevator.

To support his argument for review, Goheen-Rengo asserts the court of appeals decision in this case should be reviewed because it conflicts with the opinion in State v. Kinchen, 92 Wn.App. 442, 442 n.16, 963 P.2d 928 (1998). In Kinchen, the defendant's children were locked alone in an apartment but had keys to the apartment and were able to enter and exit the apartment through a sliding door and window. In reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence, the Kinchen court held the defendant's children were not unlawfully restrained as contemplated by the unlawful imprisonment statute because they had a viable safe means of escaping the restraint. Goheen-Rengo argues based on this holding and his assessment of the evidence, that the social workers could have walked out of the elevator notwithstanding that Goheen-Rengo was blocking the door and yelling at them. Consequently, he asserts that as in Kinchen, the evidence is insufficient to support a finding of unlawful restraint.

Unlawful imprisonment requires evidence that the defendant knowingly restrained another person. RCW 9A.40.040. 'Restraint' means

to restrict a person's movement without consent and without legal authority in a manner which interferes substantially with her liberty.

Restraint is 'without consent' if is accomplished by (a) physical force, intimidation, or deception. RCW 9A.40.040 (6). Substantial interference with a person's liberty requires, "a real or material interference with the liberty of another as contrasted with a petty annoyance, a slight inconvenience, or an imaginary conflict." State v. Robinson, 20 Wn.App. 882, 884, 582 P.2d 580 (1978).

Goheen-Rengo's argument requires this Court to examine the facts from his perspective, not in the light most favorable to the verdict. This isn't the applicable standard. State v. Joy, 121 Wn.2d 333, 338-9, 851 P.2d 654 (1993). Moreover, this court must defer to the jury on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses and the persuasiveness of the evidence. State v. Andy, 182 Wn.2d 294, 303, 340 P.3d 840 (2014). The jury was entitled to find the social workers testimony credible and to rely on their testimony to conclude Goheen-Rengo substantially interfered with their liberty and therefore unlawfully restrained them when they attempted to leave the supervised visitation area with Goheen-Rengo's three young children. Contrary to Goheen-Rengo's assessment of the facts, the evidence when viewed in the light most favorable to the verdict reflects both social workers were scared and reasonably felt trapped in the

elevator with Goheen-Rengo's three small children. Both testified they did not feel they could reasonably, safely exit the elevator because Goheen-Rengo was standing in the middle of the elevator doorway, yelling, calling one of them a bitch while also trying to simultaneously get his three children to smile back at him. Even when facts reflect a victim may have an exit available, the evidence may still support a jury's finding of restraint where a defendant deliberately uses threats and or intimidation to restrict a person's movements. State v. Landsdowne, 11 Wn.App. 882, 889, 46 P.3d 836 (2002).

Despite being terrified of Goheen-Rengo in these moments, the social workers tried to respond calmly and talk Goheen-Rengo down by reminding him they would try another visit soon and repeatedly asking him to let them leave. Nothing worked. The two social workers remained trapped until one of them realizing they needed to summon help, which required letting go of one of Goheen-Rengo's three children's hand so she could retrieve her phone to make a call. Only after one of the CPS social workers let go of one of the children and was able to retrieve her phone, did Goheen-Rengo finally step back from the elevator door and let the elevator doors close while telling them, "this isn't over."

These facts reflect in contrast to the facts presented in <u>Kinchen</u>, that it was Goheen-Rengo not the social workers, who held the keys to

their safe escape. Goheen-Rengo admitted he stopped the elevator to prevent them all from leaving. He also admitted he understood at that point, that the supervised visit with his children had been terminated. The social workers had already noticed that Rengo was agitated during the supervised visit. As the social workers and his children attempted to leave the area, Goheen-Rengo used his body and his intimidating behavior to restrict the social workers and consequently, his children's movement, thereby trapping them all in the elevator. This wasn't an imaginary conflict, this was a scary situation. Goheen-Rengo wasn't calm, he was upset and yelling and in contrast to the facts presented in Kinchen, neither social workers had a reasonable means of escape. While the presence of a means to escape may defeat a prosecution for unlawful imprisonment, it should not if, "the known means of escape...present[s] a danger or more than a mere inconvenience. Kinchen, 92 Wn. App. at 452 n.16. Further review of Goheen-Rengo's sufficiency of the evidence claim is not warranted.

Next, Goheen-Rengo argues the court of appeals erred concluding alleged prosecutorial misconduct during closing does not warrant a new trial. MDR at 10. Goheen-Rengo did not object to any statement or arguments during closing. Moreover, the reference to past acts Goheen-Rengo complains the prosecutor argued was, as the court of appeals noted,

made in the context of special rules that had been set up for governing Goheen-Rengo's supervised visits; limited evidence that trial court properly admitted. See, RP 37, Br. of Resp. at 27. In context to arguing the reasonableness of the social workers fear and arguing that trapping them in the elevator amounted to unlawful restraint, the prosecutor argued:

We heard testimony from two CPS employees, Angela Paull and Emilie Regan. They talked about their visitations and that they have to provide for this defendant so he can see his children. They talked about how these visitations are set up in the courthouse for safety reasons, and they talk about fear, fear of this defendant. You heard about there being special rules for this defendant that have been placed upon him by a court commissioner. There are rules that are designed just for him for safety, for safety of his children, and to make sure those visitations go well, and you heard about how he violated those rules, and you heard about how he's acted out in the past, and I would submit to you you've heard good reasons why Angela Paul and Emilie Regan feel fear for this defendant. We talked about—I mean, we were talking about this being a real or material interference.

Now I would submit to you this was a substantial interference. This was something that affected their liberty. It affected their physical liberty. The people that were on the elevator in the back of the elevator that had already been there, they didn't have this background. They didn't have the same knowledge of the defendant. They didn't—I would submit to you, they may not have had the same fear not having known the defendant, not knowing what was going on here. Now, those people they might have been subject to a petty annoyance, a slight inconvenience, but Angela and Emilie, this was a substantial interference with their liberty.

RP 240-241. This argument was not improper in light of the limited evidence properly admitted by the trial court to give context to the allegations made in this case. The court of appeals did not err.

Goheen-Rengo also argues the prosecutor improperly appealed to the jury's emotions by arguing at one point for the jury to put "yourself in these shoes a little bit." RP 251-52. Again, Goheen-Rengo did not object to this passing argument. The court of appeals appropriately concluded consequently, this isolated statement was not so flagrant and ill-intentioned as to be immune to a curative instruction.

A prosecutor has a duty to ensure a verdict is "free of prejudice and based on reason." State v. Pierce, 169 Wn. App. 533, 280 P.3d 1158 (2012), citing State v. Claflin, 38 Wn. App. 847, 847, 690 P.2d 1186 (1984). In this context, a prosecutor cannot make arguments intended only to inflame the prejudice of the jury. In Pierce, for example, the prosecutor repeatedly made improper arguments including, using a first person narrative to argue what the defendant could have been thinking while committing his crimes or that the victims could not have imagined they would be murdered in their own homes. The reviewing court found this narrative was speculative and not based on inferences from the evidence presented and therefore, this argument was used inappropriately to inflame the prejudice of the jury.

In contrast to <u>Pierce</u>, the isolated statement Goheen-Rengo complains of was fleeting at best and could have easily been neutralized with a limiting instruction. In context, the record reflects the prosecutor statement was not ill-intended but instead trying to argue that a reasonable person in the social workers shoes would have felt their liberty was substantially interfered with by Goheen-Rengo's conduct. In other words, the prosecutor was not making an improper "golden rule" argument in order to improperly appeal to the passion or prejudice of the jury. In light of this context, the error was isolated and could easily have been cured had Goheen-Rengo objected below. The alleged error asserted in this case does not amount to the errors reflected in <u>Pierce</u>.. Further review is therefore not warranted.

F. CONCLUSION

Respondent respectfully requests that this Court deny Goheen-Rengo's motion for discretionary review.